Certified as a true and correct copy of the Rules passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Society held on 11
September 2020 by:

Signature:

Name: Karphylineut Johnes
Signature:

Name: Anhory John Show
Signature:

Name: Jan Elizabeth Dowland

Constitution and Rules

IHC New Zealand Incorporated



© September 2020

Copyright © IHC New Zealand Incorporated

Constitution and Rules is published by IHC New Zealand Incorporated. The contents are copyright. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior written permission of the publisher.

Table of Contents

1.	Name	4
2.	Registered Office	4
3.	Definitions	4
4.	Objects	5
5.	Powers	6
6.	Membership	7
7.	Termination of Membership	8
8.	Life Membership	8
9.	IHC Distinguished Service Award	9
10.	Governance	9
11.	General Meetings	10
12.	IHC Board of Governance	12
13.	Powers and Functions of the Board	13
14.	Board Appointments Committee	14
15.	Member Council	15
16.	Associations	16
17.	Association Committees	17
18.	Association General Meetings	18
19.	Eligibility and Disqualification of Officers, Board and Committee Members	19
20.	Notice of Meetings and Other Notices	20
21.	Procedure at Meetings and Voting	21
22.	Patrons	23
23.	Common Seal	23
24.	Alterations to Rules	24
25.	Dissolution	24

1. Name

The name of the Society shall be IHC New Zealand Incorporated.

2. Registered Office

The registered office shall be C/- Duncan Cotterill, Level 2, 50 Customhouse Quay, Wellington Central, Wellington, or such office as the Board may from time to time determine.

3. Definitions

In these Rules, unless inconsistent with the context:

"Annual General Meeting" means the annual general meeting of the Society.

"Association" means an Association of the Society established under Rule 16.

"Association Committee" means a committee established under Rule 16.

"Board" means the IHC Board of Governance.

"Board Appointments Committee" means the committee established under Rule 14.

"Branch Life Member" means a person elected as a Branch Life Member prior to 2008.

"Chief Executive" means the person who is appointed by the Board to be the Chief Executive of the Society.

"General Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting.

"IHC Distinguished Service Award Recipient" means Branch Life Members and a person who receives the IHC Distinguished Service Award conferred in accordance with Rule 9.

"Life Member" means a person elected as a New Zealand Life Member of the Society prior to 2008 and all Life Members persons subsequently appointed under the Rule 8.

"Member/s" means members of the Society admitted under Rule 6.

"Member Council" means the council of members established under Rule 15.

"Memorandum" means a memorandum of the Board completed under Rule 21.12.

"National Office" means the 15th Floor, 57 Willis Street, Wellington, or any subsequent office where the Chief Executive is based from time to time.

"Related Entity" means an entity that is related to the Society by way of the Society either:

- · holding issued shares where such an entity is an incorporated company; or
- · having appointment rights or voting rights where such an entity is a trust; or
- having membership rights or voting rights where such an entity is a society.

"Rules" means the rules contained in this document being the rules of the Society.

"Society" means IHC New Zealand Incorporated commonly known as IHC.

"Special General Meeting" means a meeting called in accordance with Rule 11.7.

4. Objects

The objects of the Society are:

- 4.1 To promote the welfare of all persons with an intellectual disability;
- 4.2 To assist parents, guardians and other persons who have the care of persons with an intellectual disability to provide for their needs;
- 4.3 To establish and maintain community-based support services for persons with an intellectual disability and their families;
- 4.4 To ensure that as far as possible appropriate support is available for every person with an intellectual disability in need of such support;
- 4.5 To train volunteers, employees, parents, and others in understanding and enhancing the life opportunities of persons with an intellectual disability;
- 4.6 To enlist support for the work of the Society from individuals, the government, and all public and private organisations whose activities may benefit persons with an intellectual disability and, where appropriate, to affiliate with such organisations;
- 4.7 To promote the integration of persons with an intellectual disability into a participative role in the community so as to enable them to be as independent as possible and to enjoy their rights as New Zealanders to live as normal a life as possible;
- To protect persons with an intellectual disability from exploitation and abuse and to promote legal and other safeguards for them;
- 4.9 To proclaim the right of persons with an intellectual disability to appropriate training, education and other support that is necessary to enable them to develop their abilities fully;
- 4.10 To assist parents, guardians, and others to obtain services for the benefit of persons with an intellectual disability from the Government and public and private organisations;
- 4.11 To promote the publication of information on intellectual disability;
- 4.12 To promote research for the benefit of persons with an intellectual disability and their families;
- 4.13 To grant affiliation or other assistance to any organisation in New Zealand or elsewhere having objects similar to those of the Society; and
- 4.14 To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of any of the above objects.

5. Powers

To advance its objects the Society may exercise the following powers in addition to all other powers conferred by law:

- 5.1 To raise money by all lawful means, noting the following:
 - 5.1.1 That all funds, income, and property raised or donated shall be legally vested in the Society and all funds and property received or held by any Association or any former Branch of the Society shall be the property of the Society;
 - 5.1.2 That the funds, income, and property of the Society shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its objects. Donations and bequests shall be applied toward such particular objects of the Society as may be specified by the donor or testator. Funds raised for a specific purpose shall be applied to that purpose. Other funds, including the proceeds of national fundraising projects and general-purpose donations and bequests, shall be applied as directed by the Board; and
 - 5.1.3 That surplus funds may be invested from time to time in any manner authorised by the Board;
- To purchase, lease, exchange, hire or acquire, and to sell, surrender, mortgage, charge, manage, subdivide, develop and deal with, every kind of real or personal property;
- 5.3 To construct, maintain, restore, repair, alter and replace any buildings or other structures;
- To borrow or raise money and secure the payment of monies borrowed in such manner as the Board shall think fit and in particular, by the issue of debentures or by way of mortgage charged upon any of the Society's property;
- 5.5 To apply the funds of the Society in furthering its objects and pending such application to invest such funds in any manner authorised by the Board;
- 5.6 To employ such staff and to engage such professional services as the Board shall think desirable;
- 5.7 To establish and support associations and institutions for the benefit of employees and their dependents and to grant pensions and allowances (retiring or otherwise) and to make payments towards superannuation, life assurance and accident and disablement insurance for employees or their dependants:
- To effect insurances in respect of any undertaking activity or assets of the Society as the Board may think fit;
- To indemnify any person or company against debts, liabilities, claims, and proceedings incurred on behalf of, or in the course of, providing any services for the Society and for this purpose to charge any of the assets of the Society; and
- 5.10 Generally, to carry out such other powers and functions as the Board may deem necessary for the advancement of the objects of the Society.

6. Membership

- 6.1 Members of the Society shall include:
 - 6.1.1 Members;
 - 6.1.2 IHC Distinguished Service Award Recipients; and
 - 6.1.3 Life Members.
- 6.2 Membership of the Society shall be open to all individual natural persons who submit an application to National Office. The application shall include an undertaking to be bound by these Rules and the Society's philosophy and policy. Membership shall be conferred upon acknowledgement by National Office of receipt of the application and payment of the subscription. The Board reserves the right to decline any application.
- 6.3 Upon confirmation of membership a Member shall be entitled to attend and after three (3) months speak and vote at all General Meetings of the Society and the relevant Association in which they elect to exercise any voting rights pursuant to Rule 11.1.
- 6.4 **Register of Members:** A register of Members shall be maintained at the National Office which shall contain the names and addresses of Members and their financial status as Members. The register shall be open to inspection by any member of the Board or any Member with the consent of the Board.
- 6.5 **Subscriptions**: The annual subscription will be fixed by the Annual General Meeting of the Society. The annual subscription shall apply from the 1st of July of the next ensuing financial year. No subscription shall be payable by Life Members, or IHC Distinguished Service Award Recipients.
- 6.6 Before the end of the Society's financial year an invoice for the annual subscription for the next ensuing financial year shall be sent to each Member and the subscription shall be deemed in arrears if unpaid by 31 October (being four (4) months from the commencement of the financial year).
- 6.7 Members may elect to pay their annual subscription for three (3) years in one (1) payment at the amount fixed in accordance with Rule 6.5 in the year in which they elect to prepay their subscription. Members who elect to pay their subscription in this way shall not be required to pay any increased annual subscription fees for the second and third year of their membership period. Such prepaid subscriptions are non-refundable if the Member resigns from the Society or whose membership is otherwise terminated from the Society.

7. Termination of Membership

- 7.1 A Member may resign at any time by giving notice in writing to National Office.
- 7.2 Without limiting the power of the Board in Rule 13.7 the Board may call upon a Member to resign if there is reason to believe that the Member has been guilty of or party to conduct contrary to these Rules or inimical to the objects or interests of the Society. Before a Member's resignation is called for under this Rule, the Member shall be given notice in writing by the Board of the complaint and shall be given a reasonable opportunity of being heard in defence. Such notice in writing shall be served by delivery in person or by registered post to the last known mailing address. If no response is received within four weeks of a notice so delivered, then by direction of the Board the Member's name shall be removed from the register. The Board shall, pursuant to Rule 13.8, appoint a committee to hear the complaint and make a recommendation to the Board. The decision of the Board following such recommendation shall be final.
- 7.3 The removal or resignation of a Member shall not be a release from antecedent liability to the Society.

8. Life Membership

Any Member who has rendered exceptional service to the Society nationally shall be eligible for election as a Life Member and such election shall be conducted in the following manner:

- 8.1 Nomination of any person as a Life Member shall be made in writing with the written support of at least four (4) members of the Board (which must include the Board members who propose and second the nomination);
- The nomination shall be submitted to the Board for approval by Memorandum. The Memorandum shall set out the full name and address of the person nominated and the name and address of the Board members who propose, second and support the nomination. The notice shall include the fullest possible information in support of the nomination and the grounds upon which it is considered life membership should be granted. Where a member of the Board is to be considered for life membership the Memorandum shall not be sent to such member:
- 8.3 If not less than three-fourths of the members of the Board approve the nomination, the person nominated shall then be advised that the Society wishes to confer life membership;
- The person nominated and approved by the Board shall be notified to the Members at the Annual General Meeting of the Society and acknowledged by acclamation. The person nominated shall be presented with the award of life member at the Annual General Meeting or at an appropriate function; and
- 8.5 A Life Member shall be entitled to attend, speak, and vote at all General Meetings of the Society. A Life Member may if eligible in accordance with all other provisions of these Rules hold office on the Board, Member Council, Board Appointments Committee, or an Association.

9. IHC Distinguished Service Award

Any Member who has rendered distinguished service to an Association or former Branch of the Society shall be eligible for an IHC Distinguished Service Award. Such award will be conferred in the following manner.

- 9.1 The nomination of any person for an IHC Distinguished Service Award shall be made in writing with the written support of at least five (5) Members including the Members who propose and second the nomination;
- 9.2 The nomination shall be submitted to the Board for approval by Memorandum. The Memorandum shall set out the full name and address of the person nominated and the names and addresses of the Members who propose, second and support the nomination. The notice shall include the fullest possible information in support of the nomination and the grounds upon which it is considered an IHC Distinguished Service Award should be conferred;
- 9.3 If not less than three-fourths of the members of the Board approve the nomination, the person nominated shall be advised that the Society wishes to confer an IHC Distinguished Service Award.
- 9.4 The person nominated and approved by the Board shall be acknowledged during the Annual General Meeting of the Society and the Award shall be presented at an appropriate occasion.
- 9.5 A recipient of an IHC Distinguished Service Award shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at all General Meetings of the Society and may if eligible in accordance with all other provisions of these Rules hold office on the Board, Member Council or an Association.

10. Governance

The Governance of the Society shall be vested in:

- 10.1 The Society in General Meeting as the Society's supreme authority; and
- 10.2 The Board elected or appointed in accordance with Rule 12 and which shall have the powers and functions specified in Rule 13 and may exercise all other powers of the Society not by these Rules reserved to the Society in General Meeting.

11. General Meetings

- All Members of the Society are entitled to attend any General Meeting of the Society and any meeting of the Association in their area of residence and provided they have been a Member for not less than three (3) months to speak and vote. Voting at General Meetings shall be in accordance with Rule 21.7. Any Member may, subject to Rule 21.7.3, by notice in writing to National Office elect to exercise voting rights in an Association outside their area of residence.
- 11.2 The Annual General Meeting of the Society shall be held not later than 15 December in each year. The financial year shall end on such date in June of each year as the Board shall determine from time to time.
- 11.3 The following business shall be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting:
 - 11.3.1 Notification of Board appointments made by the Board Appointments Committee in accordance with Rule 12.4;
 - 11.3.2 The appointment of an auditor who shall be a firm of Chartered Accountants (that is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and not a Member) on such remuneration as shall be fixed by the Board;
 - 11.3.3 The consideration and adoption of the annual reports and consolidated accounts;
 - 11.3.4 The consideration of remits of which notice has been given pursuant to Rule 11.4; and
 - 11.3.5 Acknowledgment by acclamation of the recipients of Life Membership and notification of recipients of IHC Distinguished Service Awards.
- 11.4 Remits may be brought before the Annual General Meeting by the Board or by Members in accordance with the procedure set out in Rules 11.5 and 11.6.
- 11.5 Notice of the intention of Members to move a remit at the Annual General Meeting shall be given to the Board in writing by no fewer than twenty (20) Members not less than sixty (60) days before the date of the Annual General Meeting. The Board shall give notice to all Members of any remit to be brought by the Board or by Members not less than thirty days (30) before the Annual General Meeting.
- 11.6 On receipt of a remit under Rule 11.5 the Board may at its discretion:
 - 11.6.1 Consult with the proponents on the implications and content of the remit and agree with them on amendments prior to notification of the remit to Members;
 - 11.6.2 Include the comments and recommendations of the Board in the notification to Members:
 - 11.6.3 Propose amendments to the remit for consideration with the remit at the Annual General Meeting;
 - 11.6.4 Require the remit to be removed from the agenda of the Annual General Meeting and referred (with the comments, recommendation or amendments of the Board) to a referendum of Members under Rule 11.8; and
 - 11.6.5 Require implementation of any remit adopted by the Annual General Meeting to be deferred for such period not exceeding 18 months as the Board specifies.

- 11.7 A Special General Meeting of the Society may be convened by the Board and shall be convened by the chair of the Board upon receiving a petition to do so from no fewer than two hundred (200) Members. The chair of the Board shall ensure a copy of such petition is given to the Board. The meeting shall be held within sixty (60) days of the receipt of any such petition.
- Any matter to be referred to a referendum of Members pursuant to Rule 11.6.4 shall as soon as practicable after the date on which the Board has resolved to make the referral be sent by post to each Member of the Society at the address appearing on the register of Members maintained by the Society. A voting paper containing the remit and any comments, recommendations or amendments of the Board, directions as to voting as may be appropriate and the date upon which the referendum will close shall be included. Immediately following the date fixed for the closing of the referendum the Chief Executive shall count, record, and advise the Board of the result of the referendum including the number of votes cast in favour of and against the proposal.
- 11.9 Attendance at a General Meeting of the Society is limited to the current Members and the Board.
- 11.10 The chair of the Board may from time to time invite non-Members to attend General Meetings of the Society.

12. IHC Board of Governance

- 12.1 The Board shall consist of the following members:
 - 12.1.1 Six (6) Members to be appointed by the Board Appointments Committee in accordance with Rule 12.4;
 - 12.1.2 The chair of the Member Council appointed in accordance with Rule 15.5; and
 - 12.1.3 The Chief Executive
- 12.2 Chief Executive as Board Member: The Chief Executive shall be deemed to be a voting member of the Board at all times when the Chief Executive holds director or board roles for any Related Entity.
- 12.3 Where the Chief Executive is not a voting member of the Board by operation of Rule 12.2 the Chief Executive shall attend all Board meetings but shall have no right to vote.
- 12.4 Board Appointments:
- 12.4.1 The Board Appointments Committee shall carry out and regulate the Board appointment process in accordance with this Rule 12 and otherwise as it sees fit.
- 12.4.2 The Board Appointments Committee shall convene when necessary to appoint a Member of the Society to fill a vacancy on the Board and shall notify the Chief Executive of that appointment.
- 12.4.3 At the Annual General Meeting the Chief Executive shall notify the Members of the appointed Board Members.
- 12.5 **Board Appointments Criteria:** The Board Appointments Committee shall take into account the following factors when considering a candidate as part of its appointment process:
 - 12.5.1 their skills and abilities;
 - 12.5.2 their knowledge and first-hand experience of disability;
 - 12.5.3 the representation of family members; and
 - 12.5.4 the make-up of the Board as a whole.
- 12.6 The term of office for all Board members shall be three (3) years from the date of appointment. A Board member shall be eligible for re-appointment for two (2) subsequent and consecutive terms of three (3) years.
- 12.7 A Board member who has served three (3) consecutive terms shall be ineligible for reappointment as a Board member in the ensuing year. Such Board member, after standing down for not less than two (2) years, may again be eligible for re-appointment for two (2) further terms of three years and shall cease to be eligible after that.
- 12.8 The Board shall determine its own procedure for appointment of a Board member as chair of the Board and the term of office of such chair provided that the Chief Executive cannot act as chair of the Board.

13. Powers and Functions of the Board

The Board shall exercise all the powers of the Society which are not by these Rules reserved to the Society in general meeting. Without otherwise limiting the scope of its powers the Board shall have authority to:

- 13.1 Decide how national fundraising projects and general-purpose legacies and donations will be applied in the absence of any specific direction from the donor or testator;
- 13.2 Establish, amalgamate, or dissolve Associations and in consultation with the members involved, fix the geographical areas of operation of Associations;
- Define the financial and contractual powers of Associations and establish organisation manuals to control the administration and financial procedures of Associations;
- 13.4 Inspect the books and records of any Association and generally do any act in respect of any Association which a principal may do in respect of an agent;
- 13.5 Deal with any breach of Rules, bylaws or regulations or any misconduct on the part of an Association and dissolve the Association for refusal to comply with the instructions of the Board or which in the Board's opinion is acting in a manner inimical to the interests of the Society. This power shall be exercised only:
 - 13.5.1 After the Association whose dissolution is proposed has been notified of the reasons for the proposed dissolution and has been given a reasonable opportunity of being heard by the Board at a meeting of the Association to be convened for the purpose; and
 - 13.5.2 By a resolution of the Board passed by Memorandum under Rule 21.12 or by a majority vote of not less than three-fourths of the members of the Board present at a special meeting called for the purpose;
- 13.6 Conduct the affairs of any Association where no properly elected chair or committee exists;
- 13.7 Deal with any breach of Rules, bylaws or regulations or any misconduct on the part of Members and impose penalties including disqualification, suspension or removal from membership pursuant to Rule 7.2 of any Member guilty of conduct contrary to the Rules or inimical to the objects or interests of the Society;
- 13.8 Appoint committees with authority to hear, and report recommendations to the Board upon any complaint against any Member;
- 13.9 Appoint committees and sub-committees consisting of such persons (whether or not Members) and for such purposes as it thinks fit. Unless otherwise provided by these Rules or resolved by the Board:
 - 13.9.1 No committee may commit the Society to any financial expenditure without express authority; and
 - 13.9.2 No committee may delegate any of its powers.
- 13.10 Appoint the members of the Board Appointments Committee and Member Council in accordance with these Rules and establish policies on such appointment process as determined necessary by the Board from time to time.
- 13.11 Decide all matters arising in relation to the administration of the Society and exercise all the powers of the Society which are not by these Rules made specifically exercisable by the Society in general meeting.

14. Board Appointments Committee

- 14.1 Role: The Board Appointments Committee shall be responsible for:
 - 14.1.1 Identifying suitable candidates for appointment to the Board which might involve advertising and seeking recommendations from Members;
 - 14.1.2 Selecting and interviewing suitable candidates;
 - 14.1.3 Appointing the Board;
 - 14.1.4 Succession planning; and
 - 14.1.5 Such other related powers as may from time to time be imposed upon it and set out in regulations prescribed by the Board.
- 14.2 **Composition:** The Board Appointments Committee shall consist of the following members:
 - 14.2.1 Deemed Members:
 - · The chair of the Board; and
 - The chair of the Member Council.
 - 14.2.2 A Life Member appointed by the Board.
 - 14.2.3 Two (2) nominees being independent professionals experienced in governance and director/board appointment processes in New Zealand as determined and appointed by the Board.
 - 14.2.4 The Board may at any time delegate the responsibility to the chair of the Board for the appointment of the Life Member approved by the Board under Rule 14.2.2 and the independent professionals under Rule 14.2.3.
- 14.3 **Term:** The term of office for the members of the Board Appointments Committee shall be:
 - 14.3.1 For Deemed Members, so long as they continue to hold their relevant office; and
 - 14.3.2 For the nominees and Life Members, a period that is at the discretion of the Board, but for a term of no longer than nine (9) years.
- 14.4 **Meetings and Procedure:** Except as provided for in these Rules or any regulations set by the Board from time to time, the Board Appointments Committee shall determine its own meeting procedures including appointment of a Board Appointments Committee chair and the term of office of such chair.
- 14.5 **Frequency of meetings:** The Board Appointments Committee will meet as often as it considers necessary or desirable to discuss candidates for appointment to the Board and to appoint the Board.

15. Member Council

- 15.1 Role: The role of the Member Council is:
 - 15.1.1 To act as an advisory committee to the Board and facilitate communication between the Board, the Members, the Associations and the wider community;
 - 15.1.2 To provide the Board with advice and information on matters of importance to people with intellectual disabilities and their families:
 - 15.1.3 To support membership development and regeneration; and
 - 15.1.4 Such other related functions as the Board may deem necessary for the advancement of the objects of the Society and as may be set out by regulations prescribed by the Board.
- 15.2 **Number of Members:** The Member Council shall comprise of no fewer than eight (8) and no more than twelve (12) members.
- 15.3 **Appointment:** Members of the Member Council shall be appointed by the Board upon satisfying such criteria as set by the Board from time to time. As part of the appointment criteria the Board will have consideration to:
 - 15.3.1 Skills and abilities;
 - 15.3.2 First-hand experience of disability; and
 - 15.3.3 Geographic and Association representation.
- 15.4 **Term:** The term of office for the members of the Member Council shall be three (3) years from the date of first appointment. A member shall be eligible for re-election for two (2) subsequent and consecutive terms of three (3) years and thereafter shall cease to be eligible.
- 15.5 **Chair:** The Board shall appoint a member of the Member Council as chair of the Member Council. The term of office for the chair shall be for so long as they hold office as a member of the Member Council.
- 15.6 **Board member:** The chair of the Member Council shall be a deemed member of the Board and the Board Appointments Committee.
- 15.7 **Meetings and Procedures:** Except as provided for in these Rules or any regulations set by the Board from time to time the Member Council shall determine its own meeting procedures. The Member Council will meet as often as necessary to carry out their work, but in any event no less than three (3) times a year.

16. Associations

An Association is a group of not fewer than five (5) Members established by the Board and administered by an Association Committee under these Rules to advance the objects of the Society within a defined geographical area. Associations may be established by the Board in any area in New Zealand.

- 16.1 If membership of an Association (excluding salaried staff members) shall at any time fall below five (5) the continuing existence of the Association shall be reviewed by the Board who may, after consultation with the Association Committee, exercise the power of amalgamation or closure in Rule 13.2.
- No Member shall form an Association without first having received the consent of the Board. No Association shall join or become affiliated with any organisation without first having received the consent of the Board.
- 16.3 The activities of an Association shall include:
 - 16.3.1 Advocating for the rights of persons with an intellectual disability in the Association area;
 - 16.3.2 Developing family support networks;
 - 16.3.3 Undertaking local fundraising projects and deciding how the proceeds will be applied;
 - 16.3.4 Raising community awareness of IHC;
 - 16.3.5 Monitoring service quality through contribution to the area's audit programme and receiving reports on action taken in consequence of such monitoring; and
 - 16.3.6 Promoting and supporting the activities of self-advocates.
- 16.4 Associations shall not enter into any contract or make any financial commitment except to the extent and within the limits from time to time authorised by the Board.
- 16.5 No Association or any members of the Association shall issue or entertain any communication or take action in any way on any question affecting the whole of the Society without first having obtained the consent of the Board.
- Associations may continue former sub- branches within the Association area. The powers and responsibilities of these shall be those specified by the Association and all the provisions of these Rules as to the management and administration of Associations shall apply to former sub-branches.

17. Association Committees

- 17.1 An Association shall establish an Association Committee to carry out its activities and authorise expenditure of its funds. The powers and responsibilities of Association Committees shall be specified by the Board.
- 17.2 The Association Committee shall consist of a chair and in addition not fewer than four (4) nor more than twelve members all elected annually. Should a vacancy occur during the year the vacancy or office may be filled by the Association Committee.

Should the Committee be reduced to four or less committee members, a chair shall either:

- 17.2.1 Convene a general meeting of the Association to elect additional committee members; or
- 17.2.2 Notify the Board of the members who have agreed to be appointed to the committee and upon approval by the Board of such members, the vacancy may be filled; or
- 17.2.3 Request the Board to review the position of the Association under Rule 17.1.
- 17.3 The Association Committee shall meet at intervals to be fixed by the Association Committee except that an annual general meeting of the Association shall be held no later than 31 October.
- 17.4 Expenditure of Association funds shall require the approval of a majority of members of the Association Committee. Expenditure shall be in accordance with the Society's delegated authorities and guidelines.
- 17.5 Association Committees shall conduct the affairs of the Association in accordance with these Rules, the philosophy and policy of the Society and its operating manuals as are in existence and updated from time to time.
- 17.6 The Board may appoint any person to attend any Association Committee or general meeting.
- 17.7 Association Committee meetings may be convened by the chair of the Association and shall be convened by him or her on the requisition of any four Association committee members or any officer of the Society.
- 17.8 The auditor of the Society shall have the right of access at all times to the books, accounts, minutes and other records and papers of any Association and shall be entitled to require from Association Committees such information and explanations as is considered necessary in the interests of the Society.

18. Association General Meetings

- 18.1 The annual general meeting of an Association shall be held not later than 31 October each year at such time and place as shall be fixed by the Association Committee.
- 18.2 The following business shall be dealt with at the annual general meeting of the Association:
 - 18.2.1 Election of the chair of the Association;
 - 18.2.2 The election of committee members;
 - 18.2.3 Consideration of the chair's report on the Association's activities for the year and of activities planned for the following year;
 - 18.2.4 The consideration of the Association's funds account; and
 - 18.2.5 Consideration of such other matters as shall have been notified to the chair not less than 10 days before the date of the meeting.
- A general meeting of any Association shall be convened by the Association Committee on a requisition signed by at least ten members of the Association or when an Association consists of less than twenty members, then by half the members. The meeting shall be held within thirty days of receipt of the requisition. In the event of failure to comply with the request the requisitioning members may appeal to the Board.
- 18.4 The Board may request an Association to convene a general meeting of the members of an Association. If the Association fails within seven days to give notice convening such general meeting to be held within thirty days of the request, the Board may by giving notice to members of the Association convene the meeting.
- The auditor appointed in accordance with Rule 11.3.2 is responsible to the Board to report on anything arising in relation to the affairs of an Association which in the course of the audit is considered to be of such importance that it should properly be brought directly to its attention.

19. Eligibility and Disqualification of Officers, Board and Committee Members

- 19.1 No Member or non-Member who is or has within the preceding year been employed by the Society (or any wholly owned subsidiary Company of the Society) on a permanent basis, or a spouse or partner of such Member or non-Member, shall be eligible:
 - For appointment to the Board under Rule 12.4;
 - For appointment to the Board Appointments Committee under Rule 14.2;
 - For appointment to the Member Council under Rule 15.2;
 - For appointment as chair of the Member Council under Rule 15.5;
 - For election as chair of the Board, Board Appointments Committee or an Association:
 - · For election as a member of an Association Committee;
 - To vote at any General Meeting of the Society or general meeting of an Association; or
 - To nominate or second nomination of any person for election or appointment to any
 of those offices.

This Rule shall not apply to the Chief Executive or the election to an Association Committee of a person with an intellectual disability employed by the Society (or any wholly owned subsidiary of the Society) in a permanent part-time capacity of not more than sixteen hours per week. Such person shall not be eligible to be chair of an Association.

- 19.2 Only a Member who is financial, an IHC Distinguished Service Award Recipient, or Life Member shall be eligible to be chair or a member of an Association Committee, the Board, or the Member Council.
- 19.3 Any member of the Board, Member Council, Board Appointments Committee, or an Association Committee shall be deemed to have vacated office if the member:
 - 19.3.1 Resigns office by notice in writing to the Board or relevant chair of their committee or Association;
 - 19.3.2 Is absent from three consecutive Board, Member Council, Board Appointments Committee or Association Committee meetings unless leave of absence has been obtained;
 - 19.3.3 In the case of any member of the Board, Member Council, Association or deemed members of the Board Appointments Committee ceases for any reason to be a Member of the Society;
 - 19.3.4 In the case of the chair or a committee member of an Association is removed by resolution of the Board;
 - 19.3.5 In the case of a Board member, is removed from office by resolution of all other members of the Board;
 - 19.3.6 Is the subject of a personal or property order made under the Protection of Personal and Property Rights Act 1988;
 - 19.3.7 Is convicted of a criminal offence punishable by imprisonment; or
 - 19.3.8 Is adjudicated bankrupt.

- Any Member vacating office pursuant to Rules 19.3.1 or 19.3.2 shall remain eligible for reappointment or re-election. Any Member vacating office pursuant to Rule 19.3.3 shall on rejoining the Society become eligible for re-appointment or re-election.
- 19.5 Any Member vacating office pursuant to Rules 19.3.6 and 19.3.8 shall three (3) years after the discharge of the order become eligible for re-appointment or re-election.
- The chair of an Association who has served five consecutive years shall be ineligible for reelection as chair in the ensuing year but shall remain eligible to remain a Committee Member.
 Such Member, after standing down for not less than one year, may again be elected chair. A
 chair who has served a total of ten years whether as chair of an Association or since 2006 as
 a Branch President whether consecutive or not shall cease to be eligible for re-election as
 chair of that Association.

20. Notice of Meetings and Other Notices

20.1 **Notice Periods:** Notice of all meetings shall be given specifying the date, time and place of meetings and the nature of the business to be dealt with. The following periods of notice shall apply:

General Meetings of the Society: 30 days;

Board meetings: 7 days;

Association general meetings: 21 days; and

Association Committee meetings: 7 days;

- 20.2 Notice of any meeting of an Association shall be given either by sending it to a Member's last known postal address or by electronic means. Notice of any General Meeting of the Society shall be sent to all Members.
- 20.3 The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by any person entitled to receive notice, shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.
- Any notice to be given to the Society, the Board or the chair of the Board may be delivered personally to the registered office of the Society or by posting it by registered letter addressed care of the registered office of the Society.
- At General Meetings of the Society and general meetings of Associations no business except routine business shall be dealt with unless such business shall have been specified in the notice of meeting or it is so agreed by not less than three-fourths of those present and entitled to vote. The matters listed in Rules 11.3 and 18.2 shall be deemed to be routine business within the meaning of this Rule.

21. Procedure at Meetings and Voting

21.1 Quorum

21.1.1 The following numbers shall constitute a quorum at all meetings:

General Meetings of the Society convened by the Board: 20 Members;

Special General Meetings convened by petition under Rule 11.7: 100 Members;

Board: 5 members;

Board Appointments Committee: 4 members;

Member Council: 5 members including the chair of the Member Council, or in the chair's absence, another Member Council member appointed by the chair;

Association annual and general meetings: 5 members; and

For all other Board and Association Committee meetings and all committees and subcommittees of the Board, a simple majority of the members of such committee or subcommittee.

- 21.2 If within half an hour from the time appointed for any general or committee meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened upon a requisition, shall be dissolved but in any other case shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place. If within half an hour from the time so appointed for such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present any five (5) members entitled to vote who are present in person shall be a quorum and may transact the business for which the meeting was called. If five (5) members are not present the meeting shall be dissolved.
- 21.3 **Voting**: Voting at all meetings shall be by show of hands except for the election of an Association chair and in the case of expulsion of a Member when the voting shall be by ballot. In other cases, voting shall be by ballot if demanded by four Members present and entitled to vote.
- 21.4 A fifty-one percent (51%) majority of those voting and present is required to make a decision unless otherwise specified in these Rules.
- 21.5 The chair of the Board, or in the absence of the chair of the Board a member of the Board appointed by the meeting shall preside at all General Meetings and shall have a deliberative, and in case of an equality of votes, a casting vote also. The chair of the Board may with the consent of the meeting invite any member of the Board to chair all or part of any general, or Board meeting.
- 21.6 Where a ballot is held at any meeting the results shall be declared by the presiding member at the meeting, including the number of votes cast for and against any resolution. In the case of an election the total number of votes cast, and the number of votes cast for each candidate shall be advised to the meeting.

- 21.7 At General Meetings and general meetings of Associations the following persons if present shall be entitled to vote:
 - 21.7.1 Life Members and IHC Distinguished Service Award Recipients;
 - 21.7.2 Members of the Society who have been Members for not less than three months preceding the meeting; and
 - 21.7.3 In the case of Association general meetings Members may not exercise a vote in more than one Association.
- A Member whose subscription is in arrears pursuant to Rule 6.6 shall not be entitled to vote at any General Meeting of the Society or to nominate or second the nomination of any Member for election as chair or committee member of an Association.
- 21.9 A Member shall not be entitled to:
 - 21.9.1 Speak or vote at a General Meeting of the Society or a general meeting of an Association;
 - 21.9.2 Participate in a referendum under Rule 11.8;
 - 21.9.3 Nominate or second the nomination of any Member for election as chair or member of any Association committee; or
 - 21.9.4 Sign a petition under Rule 11.7;

Until three (3) months after the acceptance of such member as a Member of the Society.

- 21.10 Any members of the Board, an Association Committee or any other committee of the Board, having any interest in any contract or arrangement proposed to be entered into shall declare that interest and shall not vote on any resolution to implement the contract or arrangement and shall, unless the meeting otherwise resolves, not remain present during discussion on the proposal.
- 21.11 The Board, or any committee, may resolve to go into committee to consider such matters as are within its jurisdiction. Any absent member of the Board, committee, or sub-committee shall be entitled on request to receive a report from the chair of such meeting of any matters discussed in committee and the decisions taken.
- 21.12 Anything that may be done by the Board by resolution passed at a meeting may be done by Memorandum without a meeting or any previous notice being required signed by at least three-fourths of the members of the Board. A copy of the Memorandum including the signatures shall within seven (7) days after any resolution is passed by Memorandum in accordance with this Rule be sent to every person eligible to vote by whom the Memorandum has not been signed.
- 21.13 No Member, Association or Association chair shall act in relation to the affairs of the Society except as authorised by the Board.

- 21.14 Board, Member Council, Board Appointments Committee and Association Committee meetings may take place:
 - 21.14.1 In person; or
 - 21.14.2 By telephone conference, video conference or similar telecommunications or internetbased device provided that:
 - 21.14.2.1 each of the members taking part in such a meeting must be able to hear each of the other members taking part throughout the meeting;
 - 21.14.2.2 at the commencement of the meeting each member must acknowledge his or her presence for the purpose of a meeting to the other members taking part; and
 - a member may not leave the meeting by disconnecting unless he or she has previously obtained the consent of the meeting and a member shall be conclusively presumed to have been present and to have formed part of the quorum at all times at such meeting unless he or she has previously obtained the consent of the meeting to leave the meeting. Neither the meeting nor any business conducted at the meeting shall be invalidated if a member does leave a meeting conducted in this manner without the consent of the meeting.

22. Patrons

- At the Annual General Meeting a patron may be elected for the ensuing year who need not be a member of the Society and shall not be a Member of the Board.
- At any Association annual general meeting an Association Patron may be appointed for the ensuing year who need not be a Member of the Society.

23. Common Seal

23.1 The Society shall adopt a common seal which shall be in the custody of the Board or such person as the Board shall appoint. The Seal shall not be affixed to any documents except in pursuance of the authority of the Board or a General Meeting of the Society and shall be affixed in the presence of two members of the Board or one member of the Board and one other person appointed by the Board for the purpose.

24. Alterations to Rules

- 24.1 No new Rules shall be made nor shall any Rule be altered or rescinded except at an Annual or Special General Meeting of the Society, and by resolutions passed by a majority of not less than three-fourths of the Members present and entitled to vote, or by the Board on authority delegated by a resolution of the Society at such Annual or Special General Meeting passed by the same majority.
- 24.2 Notice of any proposed alteration, addition or rescission of any Rule shall be given only by the Board or by a remit pursuant to Rule 11.4 and shall be forwarded in writing to Members not less than thirty (30) days before the date of the General Meeting of the Society at which the proposed alteration, addition or rescission is to be moved.
- 24.3 No alteration, addition or rescission of any Rule shall detract from the charitable nature of the objects of the Society or permit funds to be expended otherwise than in pursuance of those objects.

25. Dissolution

- 25.1 The majority of not less than three-fourths of the Members present and entitled to vote at a Special General Meeting of the Society may resolve that the Society be dissolved as from the date to be named in the resolution, and may also by such resolution direct the method of disposing of the assets and property of the Society after its dissolution.
- Upon the resolution being confirmed by the same majority at a subsequent General Meeting called for the purpose and held not earlier than thirty days after the date on which the first resolution was passed, the Society shall be dissolved. A notice of the resolution and its confirmation shall be sent to the Registrar of Incorporated Societies.
- 25.3 The property of the Society shall upon dissolution be transferred to such charitable institutions or societies within New Zealand having objects similar to those of the Society as the meeting of dissolution shall determine or in default as may be determined by the High Court of New Zealand on the application of the Society.
- 25.4 A majority of the Members present at an Association Committee meeting may resolve to recommend to the Board that the Association be dissolved. If the Board shall adopt the recommendation, the Association shall be deemed to be dissolved.
- 25.5 Upon dissolution the assets of the Association located solely within the area of the Association shall whenever practicable be utilised for the purposes of the Society within the Association area.